1988

Janette Haycock v. Donna Farrer, dba Donna's Ceramics (Uninsured) and Uninsured Employers' Fund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is vested with this Court pursuant to Section 35-1-86 and 78-2a-3(2)(a), Utah Code Annotated.

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is a petition to review a Final Order of the Industrial Commission wherein Appellant's Motion for Review was denied.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issues on review are as follows:

a. Was there substantial and sufficient evidence before the

Industrial Commission on which to base an award of temporary total disability compensation extending from March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988?

b. Did the Industrial Commission act in abuse of its discretion in finding that despite a light duty medical release given by the treating chiropractor on May 26, 1987, that the appellant/employer was still obligated to pay temporary total disability compensation after that date, despite no showing by the applicant that she sought work thereafter from the appellant nor was refused light duty work?

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Determinative statutes include:

Section 35-1-65(1), U.C.A. which reads in pertinent part:

In the event a light duty medical release is obtained prior to the employee reaching a fixed state of recovery, and when no such light duty employment is available to the employee from the employer, temporary disability benefits shall continue to be paid.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS On April 4, 1987 Respondent Janette Haycock filed an application for Worker's Compensation benefits. R.5. Appellant Donna Farrer contested the alleged accident and the claim for benefits and as a result, the matter came on for hearing before an Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission on July 17, 1987. R. 11.

The case was referred to a medical panel after the hearing

for an evaluation of the medical issues. A report was made by the sole member of the panel on January 8, 1988. R. 135-139. The reviewing doctor felt that the respondent had not yet reached a fixed state of recovery because she was still suffering from her injury, that she hadn't received adequate medical care, and would improve upon receipt of future care. R. 136. This was in response to the question of the Commission as to when the applicant reached a fixed state of recovery. R. 134.

Appellant objected to the report on the basis that although the claimant/respondent may improve with further treatment, she may have reached a fixed state of recovery absent that treatment. R. 140.

The Administrative Law Judge sent the matter back to the medical panel doctor for clarification in light of the objection. R. 141. The doctor responded to the request by repeating that he felt that the applicant had not yet reached a fixed state of recovery because she had not essentially been treated to that point. He also indicted that if there was a question as to the applicant having reached a plateau of recovery prior to his seeing her, the matter should be addressed to Dr. Hansen, the treating chiropractor. R. 143-144.

The Administrative Law Judge issued an interim order awarding Worker's Compensation benefits by way of medical benefits and temporary total disability compensation that extended from the date of the accident on March 4, 1987 to the date of the order on April 4, 1988. R. 162-165.

A Motion for Review was filed on April 19, 1988 objecting to the award of temporary total disability benefits. R. 172-175. The Order denying review from which this Petition for Review is taken was issued on June 2, 1988. R. 179-180. A Motion for Reconsideration was filed with the Industrial Commission on June 10, 1988 but no ruling was made thereon by the Commission prior to the filing of the Petition for Review. R. 181-184.

B. OTHER RELEVANT FACTS The treating chiropractor, Dr. Kenneth Hansen, submitted a Chiropractor's Supplemental Report to the Industrial Commission on June 10, 1987. The report, which is dated May 26, 1987, indicates, in response to the question of when the applicant would be able to return to work, that she has been given a light duty release only. R. 10.

At the evidentiary hearing of July 17, 1987, the respondent\employer testified:

Q. Did you ever offer to let her work there?

A. She asked me one time if I had any work, you know, that I wanted her to do. And I said, "Yeah." That I had some work, you know, that she could do there. And she said, you know, that she could take it home and do it. And I said, "No." That I prefer that it stayed there.

Q. Did she stay and work?

A. No.

R. 61-62.

Later in the hearing, the appellant testified:

Q. Is there any light duty work available there?

A. Yes.

Q. What could she do that is light duty work there?

A. Clean greenware. Organize the bisque in their little bins.

R. 66.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Industrial Commission had insufficient information before it, by way of medical evidence and otherwise, to justify its award of temporary total disability benefits to the respondent.

The award was also contrary to the evidence in light of the light duty work release given the respondent. Temporary total disability benefits should not have been awarded beyond the date a light duty release was indicated by the treating doctor inasmuch as the respondent did not seek light duty work from the employer after that time.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT INFORMATION BEFORE THE COMMISSION
UPON WHICH TO BASE THE AWARD OF TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY

The Industrial Commission awarded the respondent temporary total disability benefits that extended from the date of the

accident on March 4, 1987 to the date of the Interim Order on April 4, 1988. R. 164.

The apparent basis for the finding was the report of the medical panel dated January 8, 1988. The evaluating doctor stated that the respondent had not yet reached a fixed state of recovery. The reasoning was that she was still suffering from her injury, had not received adequate care, and that future care might produce a significant improvement in her condition. R. 136.

Appellant objected to the medical panel's report on the basis that although a person may yet improve with future treatment, he or she may still have reached a fixed state of recovery absent that treatment. R. 140. The administrative law judge sent the matter back to the panel for clarification. The evaluating doctor then reported on March 1, 1988 that he felt that the respondent's condition had not stabilized because she had not been treated to that point. He also indicated that if there was a question as to her having reached a plateau in her recovery prior to his seeing her, then he would have to address that question to the treating chiropractor. R. 143.

Based solely on this information the Industrial Commission awarded temporary total disability benefits to the respondent from the date of the accident until the date of the Interim Order. R. 164.

This was improper and in doing so, the Commission acted in an arbitrary manner for there was and is not sufficient information on the record to support such an award. Solely

because an injured person may improve with further treatment does not mean that he or she is not stable without that treatment. It is often the case that without surgery or therapy that an individual's condition will not improve. In such a posture, the person is stable, having reached a plateau in his or her recovery. Such marks the end of a period of temporary total disability. This does not foreclose future periods of temporary total disability upon the person's receipt of additional medical care, but it properly marks the end of such disability until such care or treatment commences again.

The medical panel physician by his own statement indicated that he did not have enough information before him to answer whether the respondent stabilized or plateaued in her recovery prior to his seeing her. R. 143.

Accordingly, the Industrial Commission did not have sufficient information before it upon which to make the award of 13 continuous months of temporary total disability.

In fact, the Commission notes in its Order Denying Motion for Review that the respondent did not receive medical care and treatment after May 26, 1988 when a light duty release was given and did not see a doctor after then until her visit to the medical panel doctor in January 1988. R. 179-180.

In the case of Griffith v. Industrial Commission, 82 Ut. Adv. Rep. 51 (Ut Ct App 1988), the claimant therein was put in a leg brace to immobilize his ankle. This Court upheld the administrative law judge's denial to temporary total disability

benefits during the period in which the claimant was not being treated for his injured ankle, although he was in need of surgery which would benefit his condition.

In Griffiths the reason for the lack of treatment was due to the claimant's need to be treated for a non-industrial medical problem before surgery could be performed. However, the underlying rational carriers over to the matter currently before the Court. The respondent was not being treated for a period of time (after May 26, 1987), although she was apparently in need of additional treatment which the medical panel felt would be beneficial for her improvement. However, without the treatment, there is not evidence on the record to support a finding that her condition was not stable absent that further treatment. Any inference otherwise is not reasonable and is contrary to the record.

Accordingly, the matter should be remanded to the Industrial Commission for further proceedings.

POINT TWO

THE PERIOD OF TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY SHOULD CEASE AFTER THE LIGHT DUTY RELEASE WAS GIVEN

The record indicates that the respondent was given a light duty work release by her chiropractor on May 26, 1987. R. 122. There is also nothing in the record to indicate that she saw him after this date.

At the evidentiary hearing, appellant testified that the respondent had come to her at one point after the accident and

asked if work was available. She was told yes, but was asked to do any work at the work place and not take it home. R. 62. The appellant also testified that light duty work is available at the work place, a ceramics store. Such work includes cleaning greenware and orgainzing items in bins. R. 66.

There is, however, no evidence in the record to show that the respondent attempted or even sought light duty work from her employer after the light duty release was given on May 26, 1988.

Section 35-1-65(1), Utah Code Annotated states in relevant part:

In the event a light duty medical release is obtained prior to the employee reaching a fixed state of recovery, and when no such light duty employment is available to the employee from the employer, temporary disability benefits shall continue to be paid.

It follows from this statute that if light duty work is available to the employee from the employer, then regardless of whether or not the employee actually attempts the light duty work, temporary total disability benefits should cease unless the light duty work cannot be preformed by the employee because of his or her industrial injuries.

In the matter currently before the Court, the record shows that light duty work was available and the respondent knew she could work if she wanted to come to the ceramics shop to do so.

Temporary total disability benefits should stop as of May 26, 1987 when the light duty release was given by the respondent's chiropractor because she apparently never attempted to do any light duty work for her employer after that date.