1988

Janette Haycock v. Donna Farrer dba Donna's Ceramics (Uninsured) and Uninsured Employer's Fund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

Jurisdiction over this appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Section 35-1-86 and Section 78-2A-3(2)(A), Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

After having been injured in the course of her employment, the Applicant/Respondent filed an application for hearing on April 4, 1987. As a result of that application hearing, a hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge, Timothy C. Allen, into Jeannette Haycock's Application for Workers' Compensation

Benefits. As a result of that hearing, Administrative Law Judge, Timothy C. Allen, referred this matter to the medical panel appointed. On or about January 8, 1988 the medical panel, consisting of Dr. Russell L. Sorenson issued its report to the Administrative Law Judge. On March 1, 1988 the same medical panel consisting of Dr. Russell L. Sorenson issued a supplemental report. This supplemental report was as a result of Appellant questioning the initial report of the medical panel.

Upon the receipt of the Supplemental Report, the Administrative Law Judge on April 4, 1988 issued an interim order awarding workers' compensation benefits, which include medical benefits and total temporary disability benefits, covering the period of March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988.

Appellants filed an objection to the award of temporary total disability benefits on April 19, 1988. The Industrial Commission reviewed this matter and issued an Order denying the Motion for Review on June 2, 1988. A Motion for Reconsideration was filed on June 10, 1988 for which the Commission sought fit to not provide a ruling thereon within a ten (10) day period of time.

On the 26th day of July, Appellants then filed this Appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENTS OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

This Appeal presents the question of whether the evidence of record, when scrutinized under the proper standard of

appellant review, supports the conclusions of the Industrial Commission that the Respondent's medical condition had not stabilized and was entitled to total disability benefits from March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988. An additional question is raised upon review of this matter whether or not light-duty employment was available to the Applicant/Respondent in light of Section 35-1-65(1), Utah Code Annotated 1953.

STATUTES AND RULES APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE

The following statutes and rules, which are determinative in this matter, are set forth verbatim below:

Section 35-1-65(1) Utah Code Annotated (1953) provides in pertinent parts that "In the event a light-duty medical release is obtained prior to the employee reaching a fixed state of recovery, and when no such light-duty employment is available to the employee from the employer, temporary disability benefits shall continue to be paid".

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Workers' Compensation Act provides payment of total temporary disability benefits for an injured employee when said injured employee is totally disabled. More than ample evidence has been presented in this matter, that the Applicant/Respondent, Jeannette Haycock, was temporary and totally disabled from March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988. That ample evidence was presented to the Industrial Commission to support the conclusion that Jeannette Haycock was totally and temporarily disabled from

March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988.

In the present case, when scrutinized under the proper standards of review, the record supports the determination of the Administrative Law Judge and the Industrial Commission that Jeannette Haycock was total and temporarily disabled from March 4, 1987 until April 4, 1988. Therefore, the decision of the Industrial Commission that Jeannette Haycock is entitled to Workers' Compensation benefits ordered by the Industrial Commission should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

Was there sufficient information before the Industrial Commission on which to base an award of temporary total disability? Jeannette Haycock was awarded total temporary disability benefits from March 4, 1987 to April 4, 1988. This award was based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as set forth by Administrative Law Judge, Timothy C. Allen. In his Order, dated April 4, 1988, the Administrative Law Judge adopted the findings of the medical panel as his own. The reports of the medical panel are attached hereto as Appendix A. It is apparent that not only would the medical panel recommend physical therapy, and anti-inflammatories to improve her condition. By definition, an injured employee would not have reached a state of fixed recovery if improvement could still have been made in her condition. It should be noted that the medical panel has recommended the use of anti-inflammatory drugs which the

respondent had not been receiving prior to the January 8, 1988 report by Dr. Russell L. Sorenson.

Further, the Applicant had been receiving medical treatment from Dr. Kenneth Hansen, a chiropractor, from shortly after the date of her injury on March 11, 1987. The Appellants in their brief claim stated that the patient did not receive medical care and treatment after May 26, 1988, when the light-duty release was given to the Applicant by her Doctor. This simply is not the case. The Administrative Law Judge in his Findings of Fact contained on Page 2 of that Order, stipulates as follows, "Because of worsening problems with left-leg pain, the Applicant was sent by Dr. Hansen to the Utah Valley Hospital for a CP Scan and July 13, 1987. The Applicant testified that Dr. Hansen had been treating her with adjustments every two weeks, but because of right-leg pain, her adjustments at the time of the hearing had been every two days. At present, the Applicant complains of low back pain which radiates down her right leg to her knee. The Applicant denied any pre-existing problems or treatment with her back".

It is interesting to note as to the question of whether or not light-duty was available to the Respondent. Attached hereto as Appendix B is the note dated 6-4-87, initialled by Dr. Kenneth Hansen, which states as follows: "Employer will only allow the patient full-work load - not modified available". Further, attached hereto as Appendix C is Page 28 of the transcript, the essence of which is that approximately two weeks after March 10, 1988 the Respondent attempted to perform light-duty work at the place of the

employer. The Respondent testified that all she was able to do was to sit and talk to the students in her ceramics class. In addition, the Appellant had not raised the question of light work and availability of light work until the date of the hearing.

POINT II

Did the period of total temporary disability cease after the light-duty release was given on May 26, 1987? As was referred to earlier, there is a note on the light-duty release form initialled by Dr. Hansen that no light-duty work was available to the Applicant and only full-time work was available.

The Respondent stated that she had attempted light-duty work even prior to the release for light-duty and was unable to accomplish even the most menial of functions. Further, the Industrial Commission states on Page 2 of its order denying motion, attached hereto as Appendix D, "it should be noted that the Applicant was not working during that time and had past-due medical expenses related to the industrial injury at that time. Also, she was pursuing her eligibility for workers' compensation benefits at the Industrial Commission during that time". "It appears that the Applicant's unemployed status and no final determination as to the Defendant's liability could have prevented the Applicant from affording or obtaining the proper care she needed, thus resulting in the medical instability as of January, 1988."

It would also seem that there was an issue of creditability relating to the question of whether light-duty employment had been